STUK-A191 / NOVEMBER 2002



THREE-GENERATION STUDY OF POPULATION LIVING IN THE VICINITY OF THE SEMIPALATINSK NUCLEAR TEST-SITE – BIOSAMPLE DATABASE AND POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

R.I. Bersimbaev, C. Lindholm, M.K. Tankimanova,

L.B. Djansugarova, Z.ZH. Mamyrbaeva, R. Mustonen,

Y.E. Dubrova, M. Hulten, M. Suomela, A. Auvinen, S. Salomaa

The conclusions presented in the STUK report series are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of STUK

ISBN 951-712- 611-5 (print) ISBN 951-712- 612-3 (pdf)

ISSN 0781-1705

Dark Oy, Vantaa, 2002

Sold by: STUK – Radiation and Nuclear Safety Authority P.O. Box 14, FIN-00881 Helsinki, Finland Phone: +358 9 759881 Fax: +358 9 75988500 BERSIMBAEV Rakhmetkaji I., LINDHOLM Carita, TANKIMANOVA Maira K., DJANSUGAROVA Leyla B., MAMYRBAEVA Zaure Zh., MUSTONEN Riitta, DUBROVA Yuri E., HULTEN Maj, SUOMELA Matti, AUVINEN Anssi, SA-LOMAA Sisko. STUK-A191. Three-generation study of population living in the vicinity of the Semipalatinsk nuclear test-site - Biosample database and population characteristics. Helsinki 2002, 30 pp.

Keywords nuclear test, radiation exposure, Semipalatinsk, cohort

Abstract

During the period between 1949 and 1989 nuclear weapons testing carried out at the Semipalatinsk Nuclear Test Site (STS) in Kazakhstan resulted in local fallout affecting the residents living in the vicinity of the STS. The STS has been the site for more than 450 nuclear tests and more than 1,5 million people were repeatedly exposed to ionizing radiation. In order to gain information on the magnitude of radiation exposure and genetic risk caused by protracted exposure to ionising radiation, a cohort of people exposed to the nuclear test fallout was studied. The villages included in the study are situated along the trail from the first Soviet surface nuclear test in August 1949 and another three surface explosions, which together contributed up to 85% of the collective effective dose to population. Members of 40 three-generation families, comprising 361 individuals, were selected according to preset criteria, interviewed and sampled. A matched control group of 250 persons from a noncontaminated district in South Kazakhstan was also studied. Here we describe the collection of the samples for a bio-sample database with an accompanying registry of background information on the study subjects and present the comparison of demographic data for the exposed and control population.

BERSIMBAEV Rakhmetkaji I., LINDHOLM Carita, TANKIMANOVA Maira K., DJANSUGAROVA Leyla B., MAMYRBAEVA Zaure Zh., MUSTONEN Riitta, DUBROVA Yuri E., HULTEN Maj, SUOMELA Matti, AUVINEN Anssi, SA-LOMAA Sisko. STUK-A191. Kolme sukupolvea käsittävä tutkimus Semipalatinskin ydinkoealueen lähistöllä asuvasta väestöstä. Biologisten näytteiden tietokanta ja väestökuvaus. Helsinki 2002, 30 s. Englanninkielinen.

Avainsanat ydinkokeet, säteilyaltistus, Semipalatinsk, kohortti

Tiivistelmä

Semipalatinskin ydinkoealueen lähistöllä Kazakstanissa asuva väestö altistui radioaktiiviselle laskeumalle vuosien 1949 ja 1989 välisenä aikana suoritettujen kokeiden seurauksena. Koealueella on tehty yli 450 ydinkoetta ja ionisoivalle säteilylle altistui toistuvasti yli 1.5 miljoonaa ihmistä. EU:n rahoittamassa hankkeessa tutkittiin laskeumalle pitkän ajan kuluessa altistunutta väestöä säteilyaltistuksen määrän ja perinnöllisten riskien selvittämiseksi. Tutkimukseen kuuluneet kylät sijaitsevat alueella, jolle tuli laskeumaa Neuvostoliiton ensimmäisestä, elokuussa 1949 suoritetusta ydinkokeesta ja kolmesta muusta maanpinnan yläpuolella suoritetusta kokeesta 1950-luvulla. Nämä ydinkokeet aiheuttivat jopa 85% kollektiivisesta säteilyannoksesta paikalliselle väestölle. Tutkimukseen osallistui 40 perhettä, joissa oli jäseniä kolmessa sukupolvessa. Yhteensä 361 henkilöä haastateltiin ja heiltä otettiin verinäytteet. Lisäksi tutkittiin 250 ihmisen verrokkiryhmä, joka asui puhtaalla alueella Etelä-Kazakstanissa. Tässä raportissa kuvataan altistuneesta kohortista ja verrokkiryhmästä muodostetun biologisen näytepankin ja siihen liittyvän taustatietorekisterin kokoaminen ja esitetään yhteenveto kohorttien väestötiedoista.

Contents

Abstract	3
Tiivistelmä	4
1 Introduction	6
2 Materials and methods	8
2.1 Selection of villages	8
2.2 Feasibility study	10
2.3 Selection of families from the affected area	11
2.4 Selection of control families	12
2.5 Sample collection	13
2.6 Statistical analysis	13
3 Results and discussion	15
3.1 The biosample bank	15
3.2 Ethnicity and gender	15
3.3 Age structure	17
3.4 Occupation	17
3.5 Smoking	19
3.6 Medical history	19
3.7 Pregnancy outcome	20
4 Conclusions	22
5 Acknowledgements	23
6 References	24
Appendix A	27

1 Introduction

The Semipalatinsk nuclear polygon in Kazakhstan has been the site for 456 nuclear tests (see footnote¹) performed by Soviet Union during the period 1949–89. The area of the polygon is 18540 km² and it is situated about 150 km west from the Semipalatinsk City (Figure 1). More than 1,5 million people in Semipalatinsk, East Kazakhstan, Pavlodar regions of Kazakhstan and Altay region of Russia were repeatedly exposed to ionizing radiation, partly from the radioactive cloud and partly from the environmental fallout. Thus, between 1949 and 1962, 116 nuclear tests were carried out: 3 high altitude, 83 air and 30 surface explosions (1). The other 340 test explosions were conducted underground (2-10). These explosions varied considerably in type and size, and resulted in global and localised dispersal of radioactive material (7). During the first period of nuclear testing, the radiation exposure was mainly attributed to 11 surface explosions, since the remaining tests were conducted under the conditions of maximum deposition of their products directly within the boundaries of the test site (11). Doses up to several gray have been reported for the population around the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site (7). It should be stressed that the surrounding population was mainly exposed to the fresh radioactive fallout from four surface explosions conducted between 1949 and 1956, and the underground nuclear tests (1963-89) did not substantially contribute to the collective effective dose. Therefore, the pattern of radiation exposure for the population around the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site is unique and is characterized by initially high doses with the decreased exposure following the decay of radioisotopes in the late 1950's and after the cessation of surface and atmospheric nuclear tests.

In order to gain information on the genetic risk caused by chronic exposure to ionising radiation from the Semipalatinsk nuclear tests and to estimate the magnitude of exposure by using biological dosimetry, a study was conducted on a cohort of people living close to the nuclear test site. The first step in the study was to identify settlements where a large number of people had been exposed to high doses of radiation and to identify members of threegeneration families available for the study. Secondly, a biosample database of blood samples and accompanying registry data was established. Thirdly, dose estimation of the exposed people was performed by means of FISH technique using chromosomal translocation frequencies as well as the Glycophorin A

¹ The number differs depending on the source of information, ranging from 456 to 472. The data given in this report are taken from Ref. (2)

assay of the M/N blood group heterozygotes. Finally, using hypervariable minisatellite loci, the effect of nuclear weapons tests on the germline mutation rate was examined. In all steps, a comparison was performed to a control cohort living in non-contaminated areas in Kazakhstan and matched according to age, gender, ethnic origin and socio-economic factors.

This report presents the collection of the bio-sample database and demographic data of the two cohorts: those exposed to radiation as a result of nuclear tests at STS and a control cohort from a clean area. The data presented here form the basis to studies dealing with retrospective biodosimetry (FISH and GPA) as well as the analysis of germline mutation rate (minisatellite analysis).



Figure 1. The map of Kazakhstan.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Selection of villages

In order to determine the population most heavily exposed to the radioactive fallout from the nuclear tests, a careful examination of the information available on this subject was performed. Gusev et al. (7) specified that the most critical dose contributions mainly resulted from the following four surface tests: on Aug. 29, 1949 (22 kT of TNT), Sept. 24, 1951 (38 kT of TNT), Aug. 12, 1953 (470 kT of TNT) and Aug. 24, 1956 (26,5 kT of TNT). There were three large trails with high cumulative external dose (2 Gy) from explosions conducted in 1949, 1951 and 1953. However, the radioactive fallout from two last explosions (1951 and 1953) spread to the very sparsely inhabited territories. According to several reports, the first explosion on Aug. 29, 1949 was considered the most dangerous for the population near the STS (3,7,11). The first test in 1949 was carried out during unstable weather conditions, rain and strong wind up to 75 m/s. The explosion took place at an altitude of 30 m above ground with an energy release of 22 kT. The amount of explosive was 6,5-7,0 kg ²³⁹Pu. About 20% the ²³⁹Pu exploded. Within 2 hours a radioactive cloud reached densely populated areas at a distance of 100 km from the hypocentre. The soil material was activated and rose into the air and deposited so that the maximum doses were at a distance of 4–5 km from the ground zero. Because the cloud contained a plenty of short-lived radionuclides, about 64 % of the total accumulated dose were obtained within the first week and about 85% the first month from the deposition. Due to the resulting radioactive fallout, the initial dose rates at ground level in some populated areas (Dolon, Cheremushki and Mostik villages) exceeded the natural level by millions of times (7,12,13).

The population living in the villages of Dolon, Bodene, Kanonerka, Cheremushki, Mostik, Chagan and Karamyrza settlement (close to Kanonerka) of the Beskaragai District of Semipalatinsk region were selected for the study (Figure 2) based on the following criteria: (i) these villages were under the trail of a highly radioactive cloud from the first nuclear explosion on Aug. 29, 1949 and received the highest level of radioactive fallout (Table 1, ref.13); (ii) the estimated effective dose equivalents for the population in the selected villages were very high, up to several sieverts; (iii) the population of these settlements was not evacuated during the period of conducting the test.

The estimates of radiation doses for the population of these villages vary dramatically. Thus, Gusev et al. (7) have estimated that without shielding the external doses at the villages of Dolon, Cheremushki and Mostik were 2 Sv.

With shielding the estimates fell to 1.6 Sv. Dubasov et al. (14) have reported the dose estimates of 1.85, 0.07 and 0.17 Sv for Dolon, Cheremushki and Mostik, respectively. For people who were partially shielded the estimates are 70–80% of the values given above. The estimated doses for Dolon are in agreement with the data of Gusev et al. (7) but the doses estimated for Cheremushki and Mostik are about one magnitude lower. Based on the deposition of ¹³⁷Cs, ⁹⁰Sr, ¹³¹I and ^{239,240}Pu in the soil, Pavlovskii (15) has estimated external doses of 2.08 Gy for adults in Dolon. Dose calculations based on thermoluminescence analysis of bricks have indicated external doses of up to 1 Gy for residents living in Dolon (16).



Figure 2. Approximate boundaries of the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site (ruling), locations of the tests performed during different time periods, and the villages investigated in the present study.

	Village	External dose Gy	Internal dose Gy	Total dose, Gy	Maximally exposed in
1.	Dolon	2.17	2.30	4.47	1949
2.	Bodene	1.67	1.80	3.47	1949
3.	Cheremushki	1.15	1.11	2.26	1949
4.	Mostik	1.15	1.11	2.26	1949
5.	Kanonerka &				
	Karamyrza	0.84	0.95	1.79	1949
6.	Chagan	0.54	0.58	1.12	1949

Table 1. The estimated external, internal and total radiation doses from explosionon Aug. 29, 1949 (based on data from ref. 13).

2.2 Feasibility study

The general demographic data of the Beskaragai district collected from the last census (February, 1999) obtained from the Statistical Department of the district are shown in Table 2. The distribution of ethnic kazakh population in different villages is not equal. For example, in Kanonerka the kazakh families composed only 2% of the population, in Bodene the corresponding value is 98%. The next step was to define the subjects available for the study (three-generation families) through a feasibility study (Table 3). The information of totally 83 families were collected including altogether 1029 people from 7 villages of Beskaragai district.

Village	Men	Women	Total	Kazakh	Kazakh	Total
				men	women	Kazakh
Dolon	466	474	940	215	219	434
Bodene	408	433	841	402	423	825
Kanonerka,						
Karamyrza	792	861	1653	53	54	107
Cheremushki	265	270	535	182	174	356
Mostik	276	270	546	165	160	325
Besgarakai District						
(Total)	13449	14397	27846	1017	1030	2047

Table 2. The demographic data of the Beskaragai district.

Village (number of		Po		F ₁	F	1	F ₂	Total
families)	Father	Mother	Son	Daughter	Wife	Hus- band		
Dolon (27)	19	23	56	37	46	29	149	359
Bodene (22)	14	21	49	35	29	18	131	297
Kanonerka (23)	19	22	38	16	30	12	78	215
Karamyrza (4)	4	4	4	6	4	6	22	50
Chagan (1)	1	1	1	2	-	1	2	8
Cheremushki (3)	3	3	14	7	13	6	24	70
Mostik (3)	2	2	6	7	3	1	9	30
Total	62	76	168	110	125	73	415	1029

Table 3. Summary table of the feasibility study. Number of family members.

2.3 Selection of families from the affected area

Following criteria were used for including families from the selected villages to the full study: (1) Both grandparents (P_0 generation) of the exposed population were resident in the affected area at the time of the first test on August 1949 and are still living there. (2) All children of the exposed grandparents (F_1 generation) were conceived at least three months after the first test. (3) All F_1 parents were born in the affected area and are still living there. (4) The numbers of F_1 and F_2 in each family should be no less than two in each selected family.

Taking into account the inclusion criteria and their willingness to participate altogether 40 families (361 individuals) were finally selected for collection and preparation of samples. Demographic characteristics of the selected families are presented in Table 4.

The number of individuals selected for the study as percentage of the total number of all inhabitants in these villages were: Dolon - 8,3%; Mostik - 2,0%; Bodene - 11,4%; Cheremushki - 8,4%; Kanonerka and Karamyrza - 7,4%. Overall, the study population comprises 1,3 % of the total population of the Beskaragai District (Semipalatinsk Region) (17).

Village	No. of f	amilies			No. c	of F ₁			
	With P ₀ ,F ₁ ,F ₂	With P _o , F ₁	No. of P ₀	Sons	Daughters	Wives	Husbands	No. of F_2	Total no. of family members
Dolon	5	5	20	19	12	4	2	21	78
Bodene	7	4	22	25	20	6	3	20	96
Kanonerka	9	3	24	20	9	10	4	30	97
Karamyrza	2	0	4	3	5	2	2	9	25
Chagan	1	0	2	1	2	0	1	2	8
Chere-									
mushki	2	1	6	9	6	5	2	18	46
Mostik	1	0	2	2	4	0	1	2	11
Total	4	0	80	79	58	27	15	102	361

Table 4. The selected families from exposed area.

2.4 Selection of control families

One of the most important aspects of the study was selection of a control group living in a non-contaminated area. The following criteria for inclusion of control families to the study were applied: (1) The people of the control group should be permanently living at a clean rural area (far from STS or any places where the nuclear tests have been performed and far from any chemical industrial plants) and they should not have been exposed to radiation during their life, including radiotherapy, and cytostatics; (2) The people of the control group should be comparable to the exposed group with regard to structure of families, age, ethnic background, parental age of P_0 and F_1 to the moment of children birth, smoking habit, lifestyle and occupation.

The inhabitants of Dzerzhinsk, Zhanatalap and Ushtobe villages of the former Taldy Kurgan District were included in the study as a control group as they met the above mentioned criteria. After careful investigation, 28 control families involving 252 individuals, were chosen. The data on control families selected for this study are shown in Table 5. The structure of all selected families conforms to a model represented in Figure 3.

Village	No far	o. of nilies		No. of F ₁				Tota of fa	
	With P ₀ ,F ₁ ,F ₂	With P _o , F ₁	No. of P _o	Sons	Daughters	Wives	Husbands	No. of F ₂	al number amily nbers
Dzerzhinsk	3	3	12	8	11	2	2	8	43
Zhanatalap	11	3	28	33	15	19	2	46	143
Ushtobe	4	4	16	13	7	6	1	15	58
Total		28	56	54	33	27	5	69	244+8*

 Table 5. The selected families from control area.

8* - additional individuals only for FISH analysis

2.5 Sample collection

Blood sample collection was performed in the local hospitals during the period from June 1999 to August 1999 in the Semipalatinsk district and from September 1999 to October 1999 (Taldy Kurgan) by nurses supervised by physicians. 20–40 ml of Heparin blood (isolated lymphocytes, erythrocytes, FISH and GPA analyses) and 5-10 ml of EDTA blood (DNA isolation and minisatellite analysis) was collected from each person from exposed and control groups populations. Within the day of sampling, blood was transported to Almaty on ice and lymphocytes were immediately isolated and 48-h cultures were set for the FISH analysis (18). For the GPA analysis, erythrocytes from MN heterozygotes were fixated according to protocol (19). EDTA blood was stored at −70°C and DNA was extracted using Promega Wizard[™] Genomic DNA Purification Kits.

The subjects were interviewed concurrently to sample collection. Using a questionnaire (Appendix A), background data on family and residential history, occupation, radiation exposure, age, gender, smoking habit, medical history and lifestyle of all studied individuals and families were recorded and computerized.

2.6 Statistical analysis

Differences between the control and exposed population distributions were analyzed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, Student's test and Bartlett test (20).



Figure 3. Design of the transgenerational study

3 Results and discussion

3.1 The biosample bank

The Biosample Bank consists of frozen EDTA blood (at -20° C) and isolated whole blood DNA (at -70° C), the fixated erythrocytes (at -70° C), isolated lymphocytes (in liquid nitrogen) and lymphocyte cultures (at -20° C). The Biosample Bank is accompanied with a computerised database identifying the samples and number of vials stored, and information on the individuals studied (all questionnaires data) and family trees.

3.2 Ethnicity and gender

The ethnical composition of the cohorts reflects the basic ethnical structure of the population of Kazakhstan. Thus, according to the data from the Census 1999 Kazakhs compile 53.4% of the population of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the Russian population represents the second largest ethnical group (17).

The studied cohorts consisted of Kazakh, Russian, German, Ukrainian and Korean parents. The Kazakh and Russian parents accounted for up to 85% of parents in both cohorts, whilst the contribution of other ethnical groups was relatively small (Table 6). Overall, the ethnical composition of the grandparents and first-generation parents from the exposed and control groups was similar and minor differences between them were attributed to the higher representation of some ethnic groups of European origin (Ukrainian, German) in the exposed group. However, given the relatively small number of Ukrainian and German parents, these differences should not affect the results of our study.

The gender ratio of selected cohorts is represented in Table 7. The differences of gender ratio between exposed and control cohorts were not statistically significant: for P_0 generation - $\chi^2 = 0,29$, d.f.=1, P=0,5932; for F_1 generation - $\chi^2 = 0,54$, d.f.=1, P=0,4613.

Ethnical	P _o ger	neration	F ₁ generation			
group	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed		
		Fath	ners			
Kazakhs	14 (50%)	23 (57.5%)	22 (68.8%)	21 (51.2%)		
Russians	14 (50%)	11 (27.5%)	10 (31.2%)	15 (36.6%)		
Germans	0	5 (12.5%)	0	4 (9.8%)		
Ukrainians	0	1 (2.5%)	0	1 (2.4%)		
		Мо	thers			
Kazakhs	14 (50%)	23 (57.5%)	22 (68.8%)	22 (53.7%)		
Russians	13 (46.4%)	11 (27.5%)	9 (28.1%)	13 (31.7%)		
Germans	1 (3.6%)	4 (10%)	0	5 (12.2%)		
Ukrainians	0	2 (5%)	0	1 (2.4%)		
Koreans	0	0	1 (3.1%)	0		

 Table 6. Ethnicity of parents from control and exposed groups

Table 7. Gender ratio of selected cohorts used for minisatellite analysis

	No. of	families		No. of o	ffspring	
Families			Male		Fer	male
	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed
P_0/F_1	28	40	51	78	32	57
F_{1}/F_{2}	32	41	36	48	29	49

Table 8. Year of birth of the P_0 , F_1 and F_2 in exposed and control cohorts

Year of	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control
birth	Po	Po	F ₁	F,	F ₂	F,
1920-1924	0	5	-	-	-	-
1925-1929	8	7	-	-	-	-
1930-1934	11	6	-	-	-	-
1935-1939	29	19	-	-	-	-
1940-1944	14	11	-	-	-	-
1945-1949	15	11	0	1	-	-
1950-1954	3	2	6	4	-	-
1955-1959	-	-	17	5	-	-
1960-1964	-	-	23	21	-	-
1965-1969	-	-	25	12	-	-
1970-1974	-	-	29	15	2	1
1975-1979	-	-	20	18	12	3
1980-1984	-	-	13	8	16	9
1985-1989	-	-	4	5	37	29
1990-1994	-	-	1	1	30	26
1995-1999	-	-	-	-	4	1



Figure 4. Distributions of paternal and maternal age at the time of child birth in control and exposed groups (Kolmogorov-Smirnov two-sample test for all comparisons, P>0.10.)

3.3 Age structure

Table 8 shows the year of birth which has been pooled with 5-year intervals and demonstrates the overlapping of generations. In general, an equal distribution of different age groups in the exposed and control cohorts was obtained. The P_0 generation of the exposed group included fathers born between 1926–1948, e.g. they were exposed directly after the first explosion on August, 1949. The year of birth of the P_0 mothers varied between 1926–1954. The number of mothers born after 1949 was small. In the exposed group, the F_1 parents were born between 1948 and 1975 and the F_2 children between 1973 and 1997. The mean paternal and maternal age at child bearing in the exposed and control groups was indistinguishable as is shown in Figure 4.

3.4 Occupation

Table 9 shows occupation status of parents and their offspring from the control and exposed cohorts. To make our results comparable with another epidemiological studies conducted in Europe and USA, we used the socioeconomic classification of occupation introduced in Great Britain in 1951 and

Table 9. Occupation of parents and offs	pring in co	ontrol and exp	osed groups (†	occupational c	odes are take	n from ref. 21	
Occupation group	Code⁺	Pare	ents, P _o	Offspr	ing, F ₁	Pare	nts, F ₁
		Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed
			Ма	es			
Farming	10	13 (46.4)	22 (55.0%)	18 (35.3%)	28 (35.9%)	9 (28.1%)	11 (26.8%)
Transport	15	7 (25.0%)	14 (35.0%)	14 (27.4%)	26 (33.3%)	15 (46.9%)	22 (53.7%)
Materials processing	11, 12	3 (10.7%)	1 (2.5%)	3 (5.9%)	2 (2.6%)	2 (6.2%)	0
Clerical and related	9	3 (10.7%)	1 (2.5%)	5 (9.8%)	0	3 (9.4%)	0
Education and health	2	1 (3.6%)	1 (2.5%)	2 (3.9%)	2 (2.6%)	2 (6.2%)	1 (2.4%)
Construction	14	1 (3.6%)	1 (2.5%)	1 (2.0%)	8 (10.2%)	0	7 (17.1%)
Security and protective service	œ	0	0	0	1 (1.3%)	1 (3.2%)	0
Catering, cleaning, hairdressing and							
other personal services	o	0	0	1 (2.0%)	0	0	0
Selling	7	0	0	0	1 (1.3%)	0	0
Literary, artistic and sports	ო	0	0	0	1 (1.3%)	0	0
Students	•	0	0	7 (13.7%)	8 (10.2%)	0	0
Inadequately described or not stated	17	0	0	0	1 (1.3%)	0	0
		$\chi^2 = 3.70$; d.f	:=3; P=0.2957	$\chi^2 = 0.64$; d.f.=	=3; <i>P</i> =0.8872	$\chi^2 = 3.00$; d.f	=3; P=0.3916
			Fem	ales			
Farming	10	8 (28.6%)	26 (65.0%)	9 (28.1%)	20 (35.1%)	9 (28.1%)	11 (26.8%)
Clerical and related	9	7 (25.0%)	3 (7.5%)	3 (9.4%)	6 (10.5%)	10 (31.2%)	8 (19.5%)
Materials processing	11, 12	4 (14.3%)	1 (2.5%)	0	1 (1.7%)	0	1 (2.4%)
Education & health	2	6 (21.4%)	1 (2.5%)	2 (6.2%)	8 (14.1%)	6 (18.8%)	8 (19.5%)
Construction	14	0	1 (2.5%)	0	0	0	0
Selling	7	0	1 (2.5%)	2 (6.2%)	1 (1.7%)	2 (6.2%)	4 (9.8%)
Catering, cleaning, hairdressing and							
other personal services	6	2 (7.1%)	0	2 (6.2%)	3 (5.3%)	1 (3.1%)	2 (4.9%)
Professional and related in science,							
engineering and technology	4	0	0	0	1 (1.7%)	0	1 (2.4%)
Transport	15	0	0	0	1 (1.7%)	0	0
Students	ı	0	0	6 (18.8%)	14 (24.6%)	0	0
Housewives	•	1 (3.6%)	7 (17.5%)	7 (21.9%)	2 (3.5%)	4 (12.5%)	6 (14.6%)
Inadequately described or not stated	17	0	0	1 (3.1%)	0	0	0
		$\chi^2 = 13.20; d.$	f.=3; P=0.0042	$\chi^2 = 7.76$; d.f.=	=3; <i>P</i> =0.1903	$\chi^2 = 1.91$; d.f	=3; P=0.5913

Smoking	g P _o		F	1	F ₂	
habits	Exposed	Controls	Exposed	Controls	Exposed	Controls
Smokers	18	19	57	40	4	2
	(22,4%)	(31,2%)	(31,7%)	(32,8%)	(3,9%)	(2,9%)
Non-	53	34	120	74	96	66
smokers	(66,3%)	(55,7%)	(66,7%)	(60,6%)	(95,1%)	(95,6%)
Ex-	9	8	3	8	1	1
smokers	(11,3%)	(13,1%)	(1,6%)	(6,6%)	(0,9%)	(1,5%)
Total	80	61	180	122	101	69
χ^2 test	$\chi^2 = 1.71;$	d.f.= 2;	$\chi^2 = 5.2$	l;d.f=2;	$\chi^2 = 0.21; d.f.=2;$	
	P=0	.43	P=	0.07	P=	0.90

Table10. Smoking in exposed and control cohorts

amended in 1961 (21). For all generations of parents and offspring, the distributions of occupation for control and exposed groups of males were similar. However, a significantly higher number of P_0 females from the exposed group were involved in farming. This trend was not observed in the F_1 females and overall the distribution of occupation was comparable in both cohorts.

3.5 Smoking

All studied individuals of exposed and control cohorts were interviewed by their lifestyle habits. One of the most important aspects for scoring of mutation rate and for biodosimetry is smoking. Table 10 shows the percentage of smokers, non-smokers and ex-smokers of the selected cohorts. The majority of the representatives among exposed and control cohorts were non-smokers. The Student's test shows that the two cohorts in all generations are similar in terms of smoking habits.

3.6 Medical history

Another important parameter having an influence on the outcome of this study is the medical status of the individuals. As the main aim was to study hereditary effects, families with good reproductive ability were selected, implying that the parents are relatively healthy. No cases of cancer or other severe illnesses in exposed and control cohorts were observed in the exposed and control cohorts. Only a few cases with tuberculosis, hypothyroidism and asthmatic bronchitis were detected in both cohorts (Table 11). Only one person, a female from the P_0 generation in the Semipalatinsk cohort, reported of frequent bleeding in 1949–1950. The collected medical information from studied populations also show that all individuals have not received radiotherapy or cytostatics treatment.

Po	Exposed	Control	
Hypothyroidism	0	2	
Brucellosis	1	0	
Glaucoma	1	0	
Tuberculosis	3	0	
Asthmatic bronchitis	0	2	
F ₁	Exposed	Control	
Hypothyroidism	2	0	
Brucellosis	0	0	
Glaucoma	0	0	
Tuberculosis	2	1	
Asthmatic bronchitis	1	2	
Epilepsia	0	1	

Table 11. Medical history

3.7 Pregnancy outcome

Information on the number of pregnancies and their outcome was obtained from all women in the P_0 and F_1 generations by interview. Pregnancy outcomes were classified into following categories: live birth, induced abortion, spontaneous abortion, stillbirth and birth of handicapped child. The year of pregnancy was inquired, but the information was not available for most of the untoward pregnancy outcomes.

The numbers of pregnancy outcomes for exposed and control populations (with rate ratios calculated by Poisson regression) are summarized in Table 12. In the P_0 generation, stillbirths and 'handicapped' were several times more frequent than in controls. However, the differences were not statistically significant. When interpreting the results it should be noted that the term 'handicapped' is very broad and may include malformations, congenital diseases and complications during labour. Also, 'stillbirths' and 'spontaneous abortions' may overlap; some stillbirths may in fact be late spontaneous miscarriages. In fact, there were no differences between exposed and control populations when stillbirths and spontaneous abortions were combined. When 'handicapped' and 'stillbirths' were combined, a significant increase was found

for the exposed P_0 generation. Due to the lack of information on the year of the unfavourable pregnancy outcome, we were not able to evaluate the association between pregnancy outcome and radiation exposure. In particular, it would have been of interest to analyze the pregnancy outcome among women of the P_0 generation who were pregnant at the time of the 1949 test.

In the whole cohort, the frequency of abortions, both induced and spontaneous, was within the range reported in other studies. Compared with "background data", the frequency of stillbirths was relatively high in all groups except in P_0 controls.

Overall, there was some indication of an increased frequency of stillbirths and "handicapped children" in the exposed P_0 generation. However, possible misclassification, relatively small sample size and lack of confirmation of the reported pregnancy outcomes may have affected the results. Hence, they should be interpreted with a caution as chance, bias or confounding may explain the findings. Therefore, a larger study with careful classification of untoward pregnancy outcomes would be worthwhile. Use of additional health registry data, if available, is also recommended.

	P₀ generation			F ₁ generation			
Pregnancy	Semipa-	Controls	Rate ratio	Semipa-	Controls	Rate ratio	
Outcome	latinsk		(95% CI)	latinsk		(95% CI)	
Normal child	215	187		168	88		
	(84,6%)	(79,9%)		(75,3%)	(67,7%)		
Induced	17	30	0,5	38	30	0,7	
abortion	(6,7%)	(12,8%)	(0,3-0,9)	(17,0%)	(23,1%)	(0,5-1,2)	
Spontaneous	10	14	0,7	13	10	0,8	
abortion	(3,9%)	(6,0%)	(0,3-1,7)	(5,8%)	(7,7%)	(0,3-1,7)	
Stillbirth	7	1	6,4	4	2	1,2	
	(2,8%)	(0,4%)	(0,8-52)	(1,8%)	(1,5%)	(0,2-6,4)	
Handicapped	5	2	2,3	-	-	0,7	
child	(2,0%)	(0,8%)	(0,4-12)	_		(0,5-1,2)	
Spontaneous	17	15	1,0	17	12	0,8	
+ stillbirth	(6,7%)	(6,4%)	(0,5-2,1)	(7,6%)	(9,2%)	(0,4-1,7)	
Handicapped	12	3	3,7	4	2	1,2	
+ stillbirth	(4,7%)	(1,2%)	(1,0-13,1)	(1,8%)	(1,5%)	(0,2-6,4)	
Handicapped	15	16	0,9	13	10	0,8	
+spontaneous	(5,9%)	(6,8%)	(0,4-1,8)	(5,8%)	(7,7%)	(0,3-1,7)	
Spontaneous+							
stillborn+	22	17	1,2	17	12	0,8	
handicapped	(8,7%)	(7,3%)	(0,6-2,3)	(7,6%)	(9,2%)	(0,4-1,7)	

Table 12. Pregnancy outcome

4 Conclusions

In conclusion, the results of demographic analysis of two groups, ie. exposed cohort from STS area and control cohort from clean area, presented in this paper provide the basis for discussion of results which were received in the minisatellite, FISH and GPA analysis of these people. Confounders like ethnicity, gender, age, occupation, smoking and medical history were used to establish a matched control group.

The most common problems in population studies appear to be the use of small sample sizes and the lack of appropriate control populations. In our study, exposed and control groups were matched by several parameters. The selection criteria for study subjects included residence in similar type of community and similar ethnic background. All subjects were apparently healthy, not currently taking medication and with unremarkable health histories. Furthermore, age structure of the two cohorts were carefully matched, since age is the most important confounding factor reported so far in studies of translocation frequencies (22). Smoking has also been shown to be a confounding factor for analysis of translocation frequency (23), a factor also considered in this work.

5 Acknowledgements

This study was financially supported by an Inco Copernicus grant (Minisatellite mutations and biodosimetry of population around the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site, "Semipalatinsk", Contract number: 1CI5-CT98-0217). We thank A. Amirgalieva, B. Bekmanov, Zh. Ibraimova and A. Birjukov for assistance.

6 References

1. UNSCEAR. Sources and Effects of Ionising Radiation United Nations, New York, 1993.

2. Ministry of the Russian Federation for Atomic Energy; Ministry of Defence of the Russian Federation, USSR Nuclear Weapons tests and Peaceful Nuclear Explosions: 1949 through 1990. Russian Federal Nuclear Centre (VNIIEF), Moscow (1996).

3. Radiological conditions at the Semipalatinsk test site, Kazakhstan: preliminary assessment and recommendations for further study. Vienna: International Atomic Energy Agency. pp.43 (1998).

4. Charles S. Shapiro, Ed., Atmospheric Nuclear Tests (Environmental and Human Consequences). Proc. of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop. Springer (1998).

5. Charles S. Shapiro, Valerie I. Kiselev and Eugene V. Zaitsev, Eds, Long-Term Consequences of Nuclear Tests for the Environment and Radiation Health (Semipalatinsk / Altai Case Study). Proc. of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop. Springer, (1998).

6. S.T. Tleubergenov, Ranges of Kazakhstan. Almaty, Gylym, 745 p. (1997).

7. B.I. Gusev, Z.N. Abylkassimova and K.N. Apsalikov, The Semipalatinsk nuclear test site: a first assessment of the radiological situation and the test-related radiation doses in the surrounding territories. Radiat. Environ. Biophys. 36, 210-204 (1997).

8. P. Stegner, Assessment of up-to-date radiological situation on the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site. Abstracts of the reports of scientific and technical conference. Kurchatov (Kazakhstan). 5-6 (1996).

9. V.V. Gorin, G.A. Krasilov and A.I. Kurkin, Semipalatinsk test site: Chronology of underground nuclear tests and their primary radiation effects (1961-1989). Bulletin of the Center of Public Information on Atomic Energy (Atominform). 9. p. 21 (1993). 10. A.M. Matushchenko, S.G. Smagulov and K.V. Kharitonov, Radiation fenomenology of underground nuclear tests, residual radioactive pollution of the environment. International Symposium on Remediation and Restoration of Radioactively Contaminated Sites in Europe, 11 - 15 October, 1994. Antwerp. Belgium. European Commission Doc. XI-5027/94. I. p.383 (1994).

11. A.M. Matushchenko, V.I.Deriglasov and S.G.Smagulov, Radiationecological situation in the region of the Kazakh SSR adjacent to the Semipalatinsk test site. Bulletin of the Center of Public Information on Atomic Energy (Atominform). 4. p. (1991).

12. Y.V. Dubasov, A.M. Matushchenko, G.A. Tsyrkov and K.V. Kharitonov, Chronology of Nuclear Tests Conducted by the USSR in the Atmosphere, Outer Space and Underwater in 1949 - 1962. Bulletin of the Center of Public Information on Atomic Energy (Atominform). 2. p.36 (1994).

 B.I. Gusev, Medical and demographical consequences of nuclear fallouts in some rural districts in the Semipalatinsk region. Doctor Thesis, Almaty. (1993).

14. Y.V. Dubasov, A.S. Krivohatski, N.P. Filonov and K.V. Kharitonov, Radiation Environment Outside the Semipalatinsk Test Site. Bulletin of the Center of Public Information on Atomic Energy (Atominform). 9. p.5 (1993).

15. O.A. Pavlovski, Radiological Consequences of Nuclear Testing for the Population of the former USSR (Input Information, Models, Dose, and Risk Estimates). In: Proc. of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop "Atmospheric Nuclear Tests (Environmental and Human Consequences). Springer, pp.219-260 (1998).

16. J. Takada, M. Hoshi, T. Nagamato, M. Yamamoto, S. Endo, T. Takatsuji, I. Yoshikawa, B.I. Gusev, A.K. Sakerbaev and N.J. Tchaijunusova, External doses of residents near Semipalatinsk nuclear test site. J. Radiat. Res. 40, 337-344 (1999).

17. The results of Census-1999 conducted during the period from 25 February to 4 March 1999. Statistical Agency of Republic of Kazakhstan, Almaty, (1999).

18. A.F. McFee, A.M. Sayer, S.I. Salomaa, C. Lindholm, L.G. Littlefield, Methods for improving the yield and quality of metaphase preparations for FISH probing of human lymphocyte chromosomes. Environm. and Molec. Mutagen. 29, 98-104 (1997).

19. R.H. Jensen and W.L. Bigbee, Direct immunofluorescence labeling provides an improved method for the glycophorin A somatic cell mutation assay. Cytometry. 23, 337-343 (1996).

20. Aivazyan S.A., Yenukov I.S., Meshalkin L.D. Applied statistics: a fundamentals of modelling and primary data processing. Ì., " The Finance and Statistics ", (1983).

21. Office of Population Censuses and Surveys. Classification of occupations and coding index. London: HMSO, (1980).

22. Ramsey M J. Moore DH II, Briner JF, Lee DA, Olsen LA, Senft JR, Tucker JD. The effects of age and lifestyle factors on the accumulation of cytogenetic damage as measured by chromosome painting. Mutat. Res. 338, 95-106 (1995).

23. Tucker JD, Moore DH II. The importance of age and smoking in evaluating adverse cytogenetic effects of exposure to environmental agents. Environm. Health Persp. 104, 489-492 (1996).

QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

I Identification	n and reside	ntial hist	ory	
1. Last name				
2. First name(s)				
3. Address				
4. Date of birth				
Da	y Month Year	<u> </u>		
5. Gender	Male	Female		
6. Ethnic background	l Kazakh	_ Russian	0	ther
			sj	pecify
7. Residential history	$v ext{ since } 1947$			
Type of housing	g 1	Brick 2.	Mud/adobe	3.Wooden
1. Village a	L			
from 19 to)			
2. Village b)			
from 19 to)			
3. Village c				
from 19 to)			
4. Village d	l			
from 19 to)			
5. Village e	•			
from 19 to)			
6. Other(s)	place(s),			
specify _				
from 19 to)			
II Family histor	У			
8 Names and dates of	of birth of			
Wife / Husband				
Mother				
Father				
Children				

9. Were your mother and father biologically related, e.g. cousins?

No ____ Yes ___ Don't know ____

If yes please detail:

10. Were either of your grandmothers or grandfathers biologically related e.g. cousins?

No ____ Yes ___ Don't know ____ If yes, please detail:

III Occupation and lifestyle

11. Occupation 1. Agriculture (farmer, herdsman)

- 2. Nomad
- 3. Factory worker
- 4. Construction worker
- 5. Traffic (truck driver)
- 6. Office (clerk, secretary, accountant)
- 7. Medicine (nurse, physician)
- 8. Education (teacher)
- 9. Student
- 10. Other specify _____
- 12. Have you ever been exposed to radiation at work (medicine or industry)?
 - No ____ Yes ____
 - If yes, when:

1940-50's ____ 60's ____ 70's ____ 80's ____ 90's ____

- 13. Have you ever been in military service?
 - No ____ Yes ____

when: from 19_____ to _____

14. Do you smoke?

No ___ Yes ___ Ex-smoker ___

15. Did you use mainly locally produced food in the

- Yes ____ No ____
- 1940-50's ____ 1960's ____ 1970's ____

IV Medical data

- 16. Have you ever had the following diseases?
 - 1. Cancer Year of diagnosis 19___

2	2. Tuberculosis	Year of diagnosis	19					
Ę	8. Hypothyroidism	Year of diagnosis	19					
17. Have you ever received radiotherapy or cytostatics?								
Diagno	osis Year of first diagnosis	Radiotherapy	Cytostatics (specify)					
	19							
	19							
18. Hay	18. Have you in the years 1949-1950 or 1953-1954 had any of the following?							
	1949	-1950 1953-1954						
1	. Sudden hair loss							
2	2. Sudden skin rash							
Ę	3. Frequent bleeding							
19. Did	l a doctor in these years (194	9-1950 or 1953-195	54) tell you that you had					
an		1949-1950	1953-1954					
1	. Abnormal blood count							
2	2. Abnormal bone marrow sar	nple						
V	Pregnancies							

20. How many pregnancies have you had ? ____

21. What was the outcome of these pregnancies?

Pregnancy	Normal child	Handicapped child	Stillborn child	Spontaneous miscarriage	Intentional abortion	When (year)
1						
2						
3						
4						
5						
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						

VI Additional information

22. Date of sampling

day month year

___ ___

22. Running number

29

23. Family number _____ 24. Generation P _____ F_1 ____ F_2 ____ 25. If F_1 , then identify him/her as child of P _____ wife of F_1 son _____ husband of F_1 daughter ____

STUK-A reports/STUK-A-sarjan julkaisuja

STUK-A190 Lahkola A. Tshernobylin onnettomuuden aikaan Kiovassa olleiden suomalaisten säteilyaltistuminen ja syöpäilmaantuvuus. Helsinki 2002.

STUK-A189 Leszczynski K. Advances in traceability of solar ultraviolet radiation measurements. Helsinki 2002.

STUK-A188 Pöllänen R. Nuclear fuel particles in the environment characteristics, atmospheric transport and skin doses. Helsinki 2002.

STUK-A187 Lindholm Carita, Simon Steve, Makar Beatrice, Baverstock Keith (Eds.) Workshop on dosimetry of the population living in the proximity of the Semipalatinsk atomic weapons test site. Helsinki 2002.

STUK-A186 Ammann M, Sinkko K, Kostiainen E, Salo A, Liskola K, Hämäläinen R P, Mustajoki J. Decision analysis of countermeasures for the milk pathway after an accidental release of radionuclides. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A185 Sinkko K, Ammann M, Kostiainen E, Salo A, Liskola K, Hämäläinen R P, Mustajoki J. Maitotuotteisiin kohdistuvat vastatoimenpiteet ydinonnettomuustilanteessa. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A184 Servomaa A, Parviainen T (toim.). Säteilyturvallisuus ja laatu röntgendiagnostiikassa 2001. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A183 Sinkko K, Ammann M (Eds.). RODOS Users' Group: Final project report. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A182 Mäkeläinen I, Huikuri P, Salonen L, Markkanen M, Arvela H. Talousveden radioaktiivisuus - perusteita laatuvaatimuksille. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A181 Jalarvo V. Suomalaisten solariuminkäyttö. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A180 Salomaa S, Mustonen R (Eds.). Research activities of STUK 1995 - 1999. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A179 Salomaa S (Ed.). Research projects of STUK 2000 - 2002. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A178 Rantavaara A, Calmon P, Wendt J, Vetikko V. Forest food chain and dose model (FDMF) for RODOS. Model description. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A177 Rantavaara A, Moring M. Puun tuhkan radioaktiivisuus. Helsinki 2001.

STUK-A176 Lindholm C. Stable chromosome aberrations in the reconstruction of radiation doses. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A175 Annanmäki M, Turtiainen T, Jungclas H, Rausse C. Disposal of radioactive waste arising from water treatment: Recommendations for the EC. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A174 Servomaa A, Parviainen T (toim). Säteilyturvallisuus ja laatu röntgendiagnostiikassa 2000. Koulutuspäivät 24. - 25.2.2000 ja 10. -11.4.2000. Helsinki 2000. **STUK-A173** Hämäläinen RP, Sinkko K, Lindstedt M, Ammann M, Salo A. Decision analysis interviews on protective actions in Finland supported by the RODOS system. Helsinki 2000.

STUK-A172 Turtiainen T, Kokkonen P, Salonen L. Removal of Radon and Other Natural Radionuclides from Household Water with Domestic Style Granular Activated Carbon Filters. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A171 Voutilainen A, Mäkeläinen I, Huikuri P, Salonen L, Arvela H. Porakaivoveden radon-kartasto/ Radonatlas över borr-brunnar/Radon Atlas of wells drilled into bedrock in Finland. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A170 Saxén R, Koskelainen U, Alatalo M. Transfer of Chernobylderived 137Cs into fishes in some Finnish lakes. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A169 Annanmäki M, Turtiainen T (Eds.). Treatment Techniques for Removing Natural Radionuclides from Drinking Water. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A168 Suomela M, Bergman R, Bunzl K, Jaakkola T, Rahola T, Steinnes E. Effect of industrial pollution on the distribution dynamics of radionuclides in boreal understorey ecosystems (EPORA). Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A167 Thorring H, Steinnes E, Nikonov V, Rahola T, Rissanen K. A summary of chemical data from the EPORA project. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A166 Rahola T, Albers B, Bergman R, Bunzl K, Jaakkola T, Nikonov V, Pavlov V, Rissanen K, Schimmack W, Steinnes E, Suomela M, Tillander M, Äyräs M. General characterisation of study area and definition of experminetal protocols. Helsinki 1999. **STUK-A165** Ilus E, Puhakainen M, Saxén R. Strontium-90 in the bottom sediments of some Finnish lakes. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A164 Kosunen A. Metrology and quality of radiation therapy dosimetry of electron, photon and epithermal neutron beams. Helsinki 1999.

STUK-A163 Servomaa A (toim.). Säteilyturvallisuus ja laadunvarmistus röntgendiagnostiikassa 1999. Hel-sin-ki 1999.

STUK-A162 Arvela H, Rissanen R, Kettunen A-V ja Viljanen M. Kerrostalojen radonkorjaukset. Helsin-ki 1999.

STUK-A161 Jokela K, Leszczynski D, Paile W, Salomaa S, Puranen L, Hyysalo P. Radiation safety of handheld mobile phones and base stations. Helsinki 1998.

STUK-A160 Voutilainen A, Vesterbacka K, Arvela H. Radonturvallinen rakentaminen - Ky-sely kuntien viranomaisille. Helsinki 1998.

STUK-A159 Hämäläinen RP, Sinkko K, Lindstedt M, Ammann M, Salo A. RODOS and decision conferencing on early phase protective actions in Finland. Helsinki 1998.

STUK-A158 Auvinen A, Rahu M, Veidebaum T, Tekkel M, Hakulinen T, Salomaa S, Boice JD Jr (eds). Cancer incidence and thyroid disease among

The complete list of STUK-A reports is available from STUK.